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The Old Dartmouth Historical So­
ciety's regular quarterly meeting 
proved of exceptional interest to the 
members. The feature was the an­
nouncement of the discovery. by 
William W. Crapo, of a series of his­
torical sketches of early New Bedford, 
written by his father, the late Henry 
H. Crapo, and their forthcoming pub­
lication by the society. 

President Edmund Wood called the 
meeting to order at 8 o'clock. The 
disagreeable weather kept the attend­
ance down. Comparatively few mem­
bers were present. 

"The society continues prosperous,., 
continued Mr. Wood. "'The membership 
is holding its own, new members off-

setting those who have fallen by the 
way; and the interest in the society 
also continues. 

"In the first place, the building is 
being used. and a great many people 
visit the collections. The museun1 
committee has been active, and have 
arranged exhibitions that were· very 

.. successful. The teas have .also been 
held, and a very satisfactory enter­
tainment, a 'Breton Afternoon,' given 
through the kindness of Mr. and Mrs. 
Clement Swift. 

"The research committee is actively 
at work, and several papers are in 
embryo, for future meetings. The pro­
gram for tonight has been arranged 
by this comittee. and it is fairly full, 
so that the vresident will not detain 



you by remarks. Every comm.unity 
has its history, generally written about 
it: and in nearly every community 
there have been a great many written 
histories. Many citizens have an in­
terest that leads them to accumulate 
facts, sometimes never printed, by old 
worthies of Dartmouth-narratives 
written bl7 ::::ome of our grandmothers 
that probably entertained small 
audiences in the past; and it would be 
well -for the committee to obtain them. 
if DOSSible. 

"The historical matter of tonight is 
a much more ambitious effort. One of 
our older inhabitanta did. in a more 
complete way. assemble a great deal 
of material and it has come to our 
notice. It will be introduced to us by 
the son of the author. who. by his 
commemorative addresses and his ef­
forts in· behalf of the society itself has 
already taken place as one of the pro­
minent historians of this community 
I will intljoduce William Wallace 
Crapo." 

Remarks by Hon. William w. Crapo. 

··There resided in New Bedford in 
1839.'' sa!d Mr. Crapo. "a man named 
John Hilbert. In the directory of that 
year he is mentioned as a laborer liv­
ing at 2 4 North street. I remember to 
have seen him and to have heard him 
tell the story of what he and othei-s of 
that day regarded as the most notable 
and exciting event in the history of 
the town-its invasion by a Britisn 
army in 1778. When I saw Mr. Gil­
bert he was about seventy-five years 
of a2"e. He was shc,rt and slight in 
stature, but active and alert anrl 
quick in his movements. He had 
readiness of SI>eech and clearness of 
memory. I was told. if I remember 
rightly, that he was of Scotch birth 
and that at an early age he was ap­
prenticed or bound out. as it was 
called, to Joseph Russell, the leading 
resident and largest landed proprietor 
of Bedford village. 

"When a young man, my father, 
Henry H. Cra1>0, entertained the idea 
that at ·some leisure time in the future 
he might possibly be disposed to write 
a history of Old Dartmouth or of 
Bedford Village. That leisure time 
never came. But his fondness for local 
historical research led him to gather 
up for reference and preservation 
whatever referred to the earlier years 
of the town. He desired to obtain 
accurate and detailed -a-ccounts fro·.11 
those who had witnessed and partici­
pated in its memorable events. He 
knew John Gilbert of whom I have 
spoken and thought his story had 
historical value. Mr. Gilbert a number 
of times came to mv father's office. 
It was there that I saw him. Encour­
aged and aided b~ suggestive ques-

6 

tions he told with much m!nuteness 
what he saw and learned -about the 
pillage and burning and killing by the 
British troons. All this was carefully 
written out. Sixty years had elapsed. 
but they had not effaced his recollec­
tion of those davs of alarm and 
danger. 

"He further gave a complete ac­
count of all the buildings in the vil­
lage. the dwellings. stores and shops, 
at that time, those burned by the 
British and those that were not 
destroyed, giving their location and 
thenames of their owners and oc­
cupants. This information was made 
a matter of record. 

"There was another narrative. _ It 
was told by Elijah Macomber, who 
was a soldier and a member of the 
military company that garrisoned Fort 
Phoenix. He was in the fort on the 
day it was bombarded by the British 
fleet. With son:3 minuteness he 
described the occurrences of that 
eventful du. 

"These narratives are interesting 
because told by persons who witnessed 
and had a Dart in the events they 
described. They ar~ contributions to 
our local history which ought not to 
be lost. 

"These manuscri.ots. carefully pre­
pared and arranged. were placed in a 
portfolio used exc1usively as the re­
ceptacle in the collection of whatever 
data and information came to hand 
relating · to·· the history of the town. 
Several months since I came across 
that vortfolio. Its contents have not 
been disturbed for more than fifty 
years. As I was u11able to read the 
manuscript. throug:h failure of sight 
I handed the vortfolio to Mr. Worth, 
the chairman of our Historical Re­
search committee, with a request that 
he examine its contents and learn if 
it contained anything of value in the 
present or worthy of preservation for 
the future. This he has kindly done. 
While he will not weary you by read­
ing all it contai~, perhaps there may 
be descri1>tions and incidents which 
may interest you!' 

Remarks by Henry B. Worth 

During the Revolution the towns 
on Buzzards Bay were neither wealthy 
nor populous. Dartmouth had been 
for a century under the domination 
of the society of Friends and was not 
especially beligerent. Fairhaven had 
sent an ex.:>edition in 1775 to recap­
ture two vessels seized by the English 
and anchored in the Bay. During the 
first three years of the wa:r 120 
Dartmouth men had served in the 
American armY. These acts were not 
so extensive as to furnish a reason 
for sending a force of several thou-



sand troops to destroy the villages on 
the Acushnet. The motive. however, 
was not due to any warlike demonstra­
tions of the inhabitants but to crip;>le 
business activity which bad given aid 
to the American cause. 

The river between Bedford and Fair­
haven had been a safe and conve­
nient harbor for privateers where they 
could obtain supplies. A fort had been 
established on the rocky promontory 
since 18 04. known as Fort Phoenix 
which provided a slight defence 
against vessels approaching from the 
ocean but more important than this 
were maritime enterprises that direct­
ly or indirectly assisted the colonial 
insurrection. In South Dartmouth 
Elihu and James Akin had a ship yard 
and in September. 1778, a vessel was 
ready to launch. There is a suggestion 
that she was to be a privateer. Then 
on the west side of the Acushnet from 
its head south to the bay were shio 
yards, oil factories, rope walks, 
wharves. a distillery and other acces­
sories of whaling and commerce be­
side vessels always at the landings 
Here was property that contributed 
liberaUy to the support of the conti­
nE:ntaI revolution. 
nental revolution. Shipping was built, 
equipped, repaired and supplied, stor~ 
houses were filled with rum, oil, cord­
age and other merchandise in demand 
at every market, for which could be 
obtained in e:x:chang-e commodities of 
~'"hich the colonies were in need..__$uch 
active assistance to the re hellion ·was 
somethimes to be checked and a raid 
was planned as a military movement 
to reduce the opportunity for assist­
ance. 

According to the records in the 
archives department in the State 
House in Boston it appears that at the 
opening of the war orders were given 
to prevent vessels leaving the colony 
without permission. Bedford men who 
owned vesselS were William Tallman, 
Isaac Howland, Lemuel Williams. 
Gamaliel Church. John Alden, Joseph 
Russell, john Williams. Barnabas Rns­
sell. Leonard Jarvis, David Shepard, 
Seth Russell, Joseph Howland, Williazn 
Claghorn, Patrick Maxfield, Zadock 
Maxfield, Abraham Smith, Daniel 
Smith, Urea) Rea. 

In October. 1775, William Davis 
received vermission to fit out a sloop 
for some West Indian p~rt to bring 
back a cargo of powder. 

In the same year the brig Kezia, 
David Sowle, master, was permitted 
to sail on a whaling voyage, a bond 
to bring the oil and bone to Dart­
mouth having been given by the own­
ers, David Shepard, Seth Russell, 
David Sowle and Abraham Smith. 

During the year 1776 restriction on 
whaling and commerce became acute. 
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Leonard Jarvis. a business associate 
of Joseph Rotch, sent the sloop PoIJy 
with rum and sugar to South Carolina 
for a cargo of rice and Joseph Russell 
sent the Smiling Molly for the same 
merchandise. At the end of that same 
year Barnabas Russell stated that 
provisions were scarce and he peti­
tioned for permission to send to South 
Carolina the schooner Rouger for ric~ 
and Patrick Maxfield sent out the 
schooner Wealthy for the same cargo. 

In April, 1777. there were 75 men at 
Fort Phoenix and as their time had 
expired the local authorities asked for 
a detachment of 40 men and four field 
pieces-4 pounders. 

A committee of "inspection , ~nd 
safety" was formed with Col. Edwal'd 
Pope as chairman. Its duties were to 
detect and report any inhabitants who 
exhibited Tory sympathies. 

_ Privateers began to make the 
Acushnet a harbor. The brig Fanny 
18 guns, owned by Abraham Babcock 
and commanded by Capt. John Ken­
drick was at Dartmouth; also the 
"American Revenue" with two prizes, 
a ship and a schooner. 

No systematic attempt was insti­
tuted by the English to hinder the 
Dartmouth merchants conducting 
whaling and trading. Some of their 
vessels were cavtured. but more es­
caped. 

An amusing incident gives a glimpse 
of a possible reason why the English 
may have regarded the Dtartmouth 
inhabitants as entitled to favor. In 
April, 1778, Jireh Willis reported that 
the British were in the habit of land­
ing on Naushon and taking all cattle 
there. Holder slocum, one of the 
owners, persisted in landing there two 
pairs of oxen. 

Freedom from interfere nee by the 
English tempted the local traders to 
engage in commercial ventures and to 
accumulate considerable property. 

Under date of June 16. 1778, cer­
tain prominent men of Dartmouth ad­
dressed a communication to the 
General Court representing that i:hc 
harbor on the Acushnet river is the 
only one between Cape Cod and North 
Carolina in control of the Americans 
and that there ,vere fifty vessels there 
and the stores are filled with provi­
sions; that several families had moved 
fron1. Bedford and more proposed to 
do so unless assistance were given. It 
was signed by Fortunatus Sherman 
and Thomas Kempton, selectmen, Ed­
ward Pope~ Leonard Jarvis, Joseph 
Rotch, Joseph Russell, John Alden and 
Abraham Smith. 

As a consequence Col. Crafts was -:>r­
dered to Dartmouth with 50 men and 
4 field pieces to act under orders of 
Col. Edward Pope. 



The risk of an invasion into such 
a:n unprotected seaport ought-.to nave 
aroused more caution in- the minds 
of the Bedford merchants and until 
there could be guaranteed to them 
sufficient protection such tempting col­
lc,ctions of property ought not to have 
been permitted. PossiblY. the allur­
ing profits derived from trading• in 
time of war induced them to assum~ 
the hazard. 

· Tory sympathizers kept the British 
fully informed and two of them pilot­
ed the fleet into the bay. A time was 
selected when the collection of prop­
erty on the Acushnet was large and 
valuable and all men capable of bear­
i:cg arms had gone to Stone Bridge for 
military defence. 

The English expedition was ar­
ranbed with all spectacular accom­
paniments calculated to inspire terror 
and subdue the inhabitants. An army 
of British regulars fully armed and 
equipped en~red the bay in a large 
fleet of vessels. . The force was ten 
times more numerous than all the 
n1en residing 1n the region. The grim 
labor of destruction was systemati­
cally conducted. The purpose was to 
destroy and not to pillage. While the 
torch seems to have been applied 
only to structures devoted to manu­
facturing or mercantile purposes yet 
there is no evidence that the English 
endeavored to prevent the flames 
spreading to dwelling houses. In their 
tour of :fifteen miles from Clarke's 
Point to Sconticut Neck they accom­
plished a thorough work of devasta­
tion. The British commander com­
placently reported to his chief that he 
had executed the order "in the fullest 
manner."· Five years later Stephen 
Peckham, Jabez Barker and Edward 
Pope, selectmen of Dartmouth report­
ed to the general court that the value 
of property destroyed exceeded £105,-
000, or over one-half million dollars. 

It was the only occasion when hos­
tile military forces landed on these 
peaceful shores and consequently it 
has always been regarded as one of 
the few occurrences of signal import­
ance in the history of. the town. Eye 
witnesses found eager listeners amonb 
succeeding generations. Old men ro­
lated to children the events of that 
woeful night and yet for over half a 
century the recollections of these wit­
nesses were not reduced to writing. 
A few meagre statements were the­
only results deemed w-0rthy of preser­
vation. Fortunately for the modern 
historical student before all the par­
ticipants ln that disaster had passed 
away an efficient and able scribe com­
piled a collection of greatest use be­
cause of its accuracy and complete­
ness. He was the first and only in-
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v~stigator who appreciated the value 
of seeming trivial facts and with com­
mendable patience wrote down the 
narratives of the old men giving num­
erous minute details which other his­
torians had not deemed of sufficient 
interest to perpetuate. 

Henry H. Crapo was born in Dart­
mouth near the Freetown line in 1804 
and died in 1869. The :first of the 
Crapo family in this section came from 
the town of Rochester and located in 
the vicinity of the Babbit Forge in 
Freetown and it was, in this locality 
that the family continued to live for 
several generations. Peter Crapo had 
a large family and it became neces­
sary to provide for them homesteads 
in other places. One of the sons 
named Jesse married Phebe, the 
daughter of Henry Howland, and in 
18 0 7 the father purchased for his son 
from Barnabas E>berman the farm on 
the north side of the Rock a Dunder 
road, a short distance east of the 
Bakertown road and here w.as built 
the house still standing where the boy­
hood of Jesse Crapo's son Henry was 
spent. 

Much speculation has existed as to 
the meaning and origin of the name 
of that road. Some distance north of 
the road in the woods is a large 
bo,vlder resting on a high ledge of 
rock and this possibly was named 
the Rock of Dundee and from that 
phr~se the numerous variations in the 
·name ma·y have originated. 

In 1825 Ifenry H. Crapo married 
Mary Ann Slocum, daughter of Wil­
liam, who was the owner of the great 
farm at Barney's Joy. In early life 
young Crapo was a school master in 
Dartmouth and studied land surveying 
in which he became very profic-!ent 
and ,vhich furnished considerable bus­
iness after he had ceased teaching 
school. He possessed to a great de-

, gree two traits of a successful man, 
an unflagging industry and a careful 
attention to details. As a natural out­
come of his environment and heredity 
he had a taste for 'local history. 

In 1832 he had removed from Dart­
mouth to New Bedford about the time 
of the failure of the whaling firm of 
Seth Russell & Sons. The Seth Russell 
farm was bounded on the south by the 
line of South street; on the east by 
the Acushnet river; on the north by 
a line half way between Grinnell and 
Wing streets and ihe farm tapered as 
it extended westerly nearly to Button­
wood Brook. Russell's house was lo­
cated on the southeast corner of Coun­
ty and Grinnell streets. His son Seth, 
Jr., occupied the house on the ea.st 
side of Fourth street and north of 
South street, and his son-in-law, 
George Tyson, occupied the stone 



house on South street between Fourth 
and County. 

One of the results of the failure was 
to bring into the market at once the 
whole of this farm and it was neces­
sary to have the same surveyed and 
divided into small lots. This work was 
performed by Mr. Crapo and was the 
first extensive job in surveying which 
came to him after his removal to New 
Bedford. In 1842 he purchased for 
himself a considerable tract of this 
arm on the southwest corner of Wash­
ington and Crapo streets, both of 
which he laid out and built the house 
for his residence which later became 
the home stead of Capt. William H. 
Besse. During many of the succeed­
ing years he served the town as town 
clerk and occupied various offices until 
he removed to Michigan in 1856. 

During the early years of Mr. 
Crapo's residence in New Bedford he 
became considerably interested in the 
history of the town and formed the 
=1urpose to prepare an:1 write a more 
or less detailed account of the events 
and people of that locality. 

With considerable care Mr. Crapo 
reduced the recollections of these per­
sons to writing · and collected from 
newspapers and other sources a port­
folio of historical data relating to New 
Bedford, but before reaching the stage 
where he was satisfied to put the ma­
terial in narrative form, business con­
nections required that he move to 
Michigan and the subject was_never 
completed, but a portfolio of pal)ers 
for over half a century has remained 
in New Bedford in the possession of 
his son, William W. Crapo, and 
the same has now been examined and 
revis~d for the purpose of publica­
.. ion. 

Amcng these papers are two letters 
addressed to Mr. Crapo by James B. 
Congdon, written about the year 1844, 
and they disclose an interesting situa­
tion in New Bedford in reference to 
a compilation of a local history. It 
seems that James B. Congdon and 
Daniel Ricketson were also intending 
t , prepare local histories ot a more 
or less elaborate character and there 
existed some rivalry between them. 
each considering the "field" his own. 

Mr. Congdon delivered a lecture on 
the early history of New Bedford be­
fore the LYceum. and some feeling 
was aroused in the minds of Messrs. 
Ricketson and Crapo, and during the 
day of Dec. 27, 1844, there was a 
considerable exchange of letters, and 
those of Mr. Congdon have been pre­
served: but the matter was quickly 
dropped. Years later Mr. Ricketson 
published his history of New Bedford. 
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Mr. Congdon collected numerous 
papers and historical data which 
have been added to the records in 
the New Bedford Public Library. 

The extracts from o-Id newspapers 
made by Mr. Crapo may be found 
in the files of the Medley. Courier 
and Mercury. His extended inter­
views with the old men of his day 
have the greatest historic value. Only 
a few minor corre·ctions have been 
necessary, and these appear in the 
notes; but the bulk of the statements 
has been found to be in exact accord 
with contemporary public records. 
This reflects the ,:reatest credit not 
only on the accuracy of the narrators, 
but the scrupulous care of the writer 
who elicited the facts and committed 
them to oaDer. 

John Gilbert. whose story is the 
longest, was a peculiarly voluable 
.witness. By birth a Scotchman, he 
lived as hired boy in the family of 
Joseph Russell. the leading man of 
business and wealth in Bedford vil­
lage. At his home visitors of standing 
were entertained. and the household 
numbered over 20 persons. Here 
would be heard, even by the servants, 
discussions of all public events of 
the day. and such an occurrence as 
the British Raid would be the topic 
of conversation for years. While Gil­
bert was an eye-witness to the facts, 
yet in this atmosphere he would have 
a most intelligent appreciation of the 
relative importance of different de­
tails, so, although his account was 
stated 60 years after, it no doubt con­
tains the salient and principal occur­
ence that came within his observation, 
narrated according to _their impor­
tance . 

Although Mr. Crapo seems to have 
considered the Macomber narrative 
entitled to great weight, in two par­
ticulars it has been criticized. 

1. As to the Englis,h troops land­
ing on Sconticut Neck. 

2. · That Isaac Howland's house 
could not have been burnt because 1t 
was a brick house and stood across 
the end of Pleasant street on the 
north side of Union and was stand­
ing until modern times. 

In order that the landmarks and 
localities may be understood notes 
have been inserted in brackets. It 
should be kept in mind that the narra­
tives were written in 1840 and the 
word "now" refers to that date. 

Other accounts of the Invasion may 
be found in Ricketson's and Ellis' 
History of New Bedford and in the 
New Bedford Evening Standard of 
Sept. 5, 1878. 
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THE JOSEPH RUSSELL HOUSE. 

The Villages of Dartmouth in the 

British Raid of. 1778. 
Compiled by Henry Howland Crapo in 1839-40. 

Statement of John Gilbert of New 
Bedford in relation to the burning of 
Bedford Village by the British in 
1778; and. also, in relation to the 
number, location, owners, etc., of the 
dwelling houses and other buildings, 
including those destroyed at that 
time. 

Said Gilbert was 75 years of age 
the 16th of September, 1839; was born 
in 1764. and consequently was about 
14 years of a~e at the time of the 
attack. He is a man of extraordinary 
memory, of quick comprehensions, 
very intelligent, and has resided in 
New Bedford since he was 4 years of 
age. ___ , 

His statement is in substance as 
follows: 

On the 5th of SeJ>tember, 1778, in 
the afternoon. the British fleet ar­
rived off Clarks voint. It consisted 
of two frigates, an 18-gun brig and 
about 3 6 transports. The latter were 

small ships. The two frigates and 
brig anchored opposite the mouth of 
the Acushnet river and a little below 
the point. The transports were an­
chored outside the Great ledge and 
c-,pposite the mouth of the cove. The 
troops, including light-horse artillery, 
etc., Wt""re landed in barges. - The 
landing was com1>leted a little before 
night, near where the present alms­
house is situated. and the troops ar­
riveC.: at the head of Main (now 
Union) street about dusk. A 1>art of 
the troops were wheeled to the right 
and J)assed down Main street for the 
purpose of burning the town, whilst 
the remainder continued their march 
to the north on County street. There 
was not at this time more than 15 
able-bodied men in the place, every 
person that could leave having gone 
to reinforce the American army in 
Rhode Island, where at that very time 



they were engaged, their cannon be­
ing distinctly heard here. 

I was at this time an apprentice to 
Joseph Russell, the father of Abra­
ham, etc.. and had been sent for a 
horse to carry my mistress to some 
place of safety. On my return she 
had gone, as also the goods from the 
house, but Peace Akins was there (a 
connection of the family) .. whom I 
was directed to carry with me. The 
house stood at the present corner of 
County and Morgan streets, and a 
little within the fence on the south­
east corner of Charles W. Morgan's 
lot (a). By this time the British had 
appeared in sight. I was upon the 
horse by the side of the horse block. 
urging Mrs. Akins to be quick in get­
ting ready. She, however, made some 
little delay by returning into the 
house for something, and before she 
had time to get up behind me four 
light-horsemen passed us, but without 
paying us any particular attention. 
Whilst the head of the British column 
was passing us and whilst Peace was 
in the very act of getting upon the 
horse, a soldier came uI> and, seizing 
the horse's bridle, commanded me to 
get off. I made no reply, but by 
reigning the horse suddenly round, 
knocked him down. which left me 
perfectly at liberty and headed to the 
north. The troops occupied nearly 
the whole of the road, leaving, how­
eve:·, a small s1>ace on the west side 
between them and the wall. _Through 
this open space I attempted ~o pass 
by urging my horse at the top of 
his soeed, but before I had gone five 
rods a whole platoon was fired at me, 
without hitting either myself or horse. 
These were the first guns fired by 
the British since their landing. The 
troops now opened from the centre 
to close the space next the wall, 
which reduced me to the necessity of 
passing through the centre of the re­
maining I>latoons. This I effected 
without injury, in consequence of the 
speed of my horse and being s9 mixed 
up with the troops as to prevent their 
firing. About 20 feet in advance of 
the leading platoon were placed two 
men with fixed bayonets, as a kind 
of advance guard. They were about 
six feet apart, and as I advanced from 
the rear they both faced about and 
presented their pieces, which I think 
were snapped at me, but they did not 
fire. I passed through between them 
and made my escape, turning up the 
(b) Smith's Mills road; I went to 
Timothy Maxfield's. about 1 ½ miles, 
and stayed all night. 

I afterwards learned that upon 
leaving Peace Akins on the horse 
block some British officers rode up 
and assured bPr that if she remained 
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perfectly quiet nothing should injure 
her. She remained in this situation 
until the troops had passed and the 
officers left her, when she went over 
the east side of the road into a field 
of pole-beans, and thence traveied. 

The four horsemen that first passed 
us on the horse block went into the 
house and plundered two men whom 
they found there, the goods have been 
already conveyed .back. These men 
were Humphrey Tallman and Joseph 
Trafford, who worked for Joseph Rus­
sell. 

As I Dassed ux, the Smith's Mills 
road, and about one-quarter of a mile 
from County street. I met William 
Haydon and Oliver Potter, both armed 
with muskets, who inquired where the 
main body of the British then were. 
I told them they were nearly square 
against us. Upon receiving this in­
formation they cut across the woods. 
etc., as I was afterwards told, and 
came out a little in advance of the 
British and near the west end of the 
present North street. The woods were 
very thick on the west side of County 
street at this place. and under cover 
of night and these woods Haydon and 
Potter fired ux,on the British and 
killed two horsemen. This I was told 
by Haydon and Potter, and also by 
the American 1>risoners on their re­
turn home. who saw them put into 
the baggage wagon. One was shot. 

A few minutes after these men were 
shot Abraham Russell, Thomas Cook 
aP-d Diah Trafford, all being armed, 
were discovered by the British at­
tempting to leave the village by 
coming up a cross-way into County 
street. When at the corner of this 
way with County street, or nearly· so, 
they were fired upon by the British 
and all shot down. Trafford was 21 
years of age lacking 14 days, and was 
in the employment of Joseph Russell, 
with whom I then lived. He was shot 
through the heart and died instantly, 
after which his face was badly cut to 
pieces with the sabres of the British. 
Cook also worked for said Russell, by 
the month; he was nearly 40 ye~rs 
of age. He was shot through the leg 
and also through the bowels, the lat­
ter bunet passing through his bladder. 
He died about daylight next morning. 
Russel was about 40 years of age. He 
died about 10 o'clock the next morn­
ing, at the house of said Joseph Rus­
sell, where they were all ·carried after 
remaining all night in the road where 
they were shot. Russell and Cook 
were buried in Dartmouth (as stated 
by Macomber); Trafford was buried 
on the hill by the shore. a little north 
of the old ropewalk in this town. This 
was a sort of potter's field, where 

(a) It is the present William S. Reed's dwelling house. 
(b) Smith Mills road was Kempton street, Rockdale avenue and the Hathaway 

road. Timothy Maxfield's house was on the north side of the Hathaway road 
near the junction with Kempton street. 



sailors were buried; the land was 
owned by Joseph Russell (c). 

A company of artillery consisting of 
about SO privates had been sent from 
Boston for the protection of the place. 
The building occupied by them as a 
barracks was the "poor house.,'' which 
stood near the »resent site of Philip 
Anthony's dwelling house. - It was a 
long, low building, and has since been 
pulled down (d). The company was 
commanded by Capt. James Cushing 
of Boston. Joseph Bell of Boston was 
fi.i"St lieutenant. William Gordon of 
Boston, second lieutenant, and James 
Metcalf, third lieutenant. The latter 
was mortally wounded by the British 
during the night, at Acushnet. This 
company, although stationed here 
had a short time previous to the land­
ing of the British been called to How­
land's Ferry to aid the Americans 
against the British in Rhode Island. 
But during the day of the landing 
Lieuts. Gordon and Metcalf had re­
turned with a! part of the company 
and one I>iece. As the British ad­
vanced they were under the neces­
sity of retreating. They had a yoke 
of oxen of Jose»h Russell's to draw 
their cannon. 

The officers of this company had 
their (luarters at and boarded with 
Mrs. Deborah Doubleday, a widow, in 
the house in which Judge Prescott's 
office now is. which was then owned 
by Seth Russell, father of the late 
Seth and Charles. After Metcalf was 
wounded he was brought down to this 
house, where I saw him the next day. 
I think he lived three days ( e). I 
was at his funeral-he was buried on 
the hill by the old meP-ting house at 
Acushnet, "under arms'". 

The evening of the British attack 
was clear and moonlight. The sloop 
Providence was very often in here. 
and I was frequently on board of 
her. She was commanded by John 
Hacker of New York (since a pilot 
through Hell Gate), was sloop-rigged, 
and I think about 100 tons. She 
brought in the prize "Harriet of Lon­
don,'' which was burnt on the south 
side of Rotch's wharf. below where 
the sail-loft now is. This was the 
wreck recently taken up on the bar. 
She also took and brought in prize 
the· British-armed brig Diligence, of 
18 ~ns and commanded by John 
Smith of Liverpool. The engagement 
was off Sandy Hook and · lasted five 
glasses (2 ¥2 hours). The _:P-rovidence 
had two men killed-the sailing mas­
ter, James Rodgers of Conn .• and the 
steward, Church Wilkey, of Fairhaven 
(north part). Don't know the num­
ber killed on board the brig. She was 
su bsequ~ntly repaired here and 
manned, fitted. etc.. as an American 

12 

cruiser. She was with the squadron 
in the Penobscott and was there 
blown up by the order of the Ameri­
can commandant. as was the Provi­
dence. The crew of the brig was 
landed here, but I do not know where 
they went to. 

.M.cPharson's wharf was at Belville, 
and was burnt by the British, together 
with some vessels laying there. A 
brig called the "No Duties on Tea" 
was burnt at this wharf. She drifted 
down the river after her fastenings 
were burnt off and finally sunk just 
at the north of "Dog Fish Bar" and 
abreast of the Burying Ground hill. 
Several other small vessels were burnt 
at this wharf and sunk; they were 
afterwards got up. 

An armed vessel sunk on the west 
side of Crow Island (which is oppo­
site and near to Fairhaven village). 
She was afterwards got up. Her guns 
were got up by some persons diving 
down and fastening ropes to them 
upon which . they were hoiste..d up. 
Benjamin Myrick was drowned in div­
ing down for the purpose of fastening 
a ro!)e to the last one. There were 
only two wharves in the village of any 
consequence. The largest was Rotch 
wharf (the present Rotch's wharf), 
the other was Joseph Russell's wharf 
( now Central wharf). 

[John Gilbert has been employed 
in the merchant and whaling service 
since 21 years of age. His parents 
resided in --Boston. He was left an 
orphan. His father was lost in a ves­
SE"l out of Boston. which was never 
heard of. He was brou~ht to New 
Bcdf ord at the age of 4 years and 
bound an apprentice.]-Note by H. 
H. Crapo. 

Privateering. 
'I•here were no .privateers owned and 

fitted from New Bedford. They were 
all owned in Boston, Connecticut and 
Rhode Island. and rendezvoused · here. 

A large sloop called the Broom fre­
quently came in here. She was com­
manded by Stephen Cahoon of Rhode 
Island and mounted 12 guns. -

"The Black Snake," a long, low, 
black schooner, frequently came in 
here. She was owned in Connecticut 
and mounted ej_ght carriage guns. 
Don't know the name of her captain. 

An Indian burying place occupied 
_ the present site of the Merchants bank 

and Hamilton street. It was a bury­
ing ground both before and after the 
war. It was a high hill, composed of 
rock covered with a few feet of earth. 
When the hill was cut down the bones 
were 1>ut into a box and interred in 
the Friends burying ground by Wil­
liam Rotch, Jr. The Friends burying 

(c) The rope walk stood on the land now Morgan's lane and extended from the 
shore west to Acushnet avenue. 

(d) This lot was on the southeast corner of Sixth and Spring streets. 
(e) Prescott's office was on the west side of North Water street in the build­

ing next north of the corner of Union. 



ground was on the shore. at the foot 
of Griffin street. 

Gilbert says "on the day the British 
landed they commenced carting goods 
about the middle of the afternoon. 
and carried them on to a piece of 
cleared land. containing about one 
acre, which was situated in the woods 
west of the jail and surrounded on 
all sides by swamp, heavy wood and 
thick copse. Many others carried 
goods to the same place. After mov­
ing all the &"oods I was sent for a 
horse to the pasture west of where the 
_jail now stands." 

Elijah Macomber's Account or Raid. 
Account of the nurning of New Bej­

ford and Fairhaven by the British 
troops, on the evening of the 5th of 
September, 1778, as given me by Elijah 
Macomber, formerly of Dartmout:n, 
now resident in New Bedford, Dec. 6. 
1839; said informant being in good 
health, and sound mind. He was 85 
years of age on the 14th day of May 
last, and consequently more than 2 4 
years of age at the time, being born 
May 14, 1754. He was in the fort at 
Fairhaven on sai i 5th' day of Septem­
ber, where !le served as a private from 
March, 17 7 8, to December following. 

The substance of Mr. Macomber's 
statement is as follows: 

The fort below Fairhaven village 
was garrisoned, at t:he time, by Captain 
Timothy Ingraham, Lieutenant Daniel 
Foster and thirty-six non..;eemmis­
sioned officers and privates, making a 
total of 38 men. There were eleven c:r 
twelve pieces of cannon mounted in 
the fort, and abo?:.t twenty-five casks 
of powder in :he magazine, twenty 
casks having been procured a few days 
previous from the commissary store in 
New Bedford, vrhich was kept ~Y 
Philip and Leonard Jarvis, brothers. 

About 1 o'clock p. m. Worth Bates 
(Timothy Tallman, Wm., etc., knew 
this man) who lived at a place <,n the 
Bedford side called McPharson's wharf 
(a), and who had that day been out 
fishing, landed at the fort in his boat 
and informed the captain that a 
British fleet was in the bay and near1y 
up with the point In a few moments 
they made their appearance by the 
point. The larger ship sailed up f.he 
river and anchored off abreast the 
fort. About one-half or more of the 
smaller vessels 2.nchored off Clark's 
point and the remainder dropped :n 
to the east of the larger vessels and 
commenced embarking troops in a 
small cove, a short distance to the 
east of the fort, behind a point ()f 
·woods and under cover of the guns of 
the larger vessels The fleet consisted 
of 3 6 sail. Immediately upon discover­
ing them three guns were fired from 
the fort to alarm the country, and a 
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despatch sent to Howla.nd's ferry. 
where a part of the American army 
then was, for reinforcements. The 
debarkation of the British troops 
commenced_ about 2 o~clock. both to 
the eastward of the fort, and 2.t 
Clark's cove. A company of artiller.1 
from Boston consisting of a.bout 6 O 
men, under the command of Capt. -
Cushman, was stationed at the head or 
Clark's cove, which upon the landing 
of the British fell back. and retreated 
to the head of the Acushnet -river. 

Metcalf was first lieutenant of 
t~is company and was shot during the 
night at Acushnet village. Wm. Gor­
don, of this town. was second lieut­
enant, and was taken prisoner 1>y the 
British, but ma.de his escape before 
they arrived at the head of Acushnet. 
The troops continued to debark from 
the trans_ports lying to the east of i.he 
fort until night, but neither their 
movements nor those landed at the 
cove could be seen from the fort. 

Not long after dark the detachments 
from the cove commenced the wo,:-k 
of destruction. The first building ais­
covered in. fl~mes were the ropewaiks 
and the distillery belonging to Isaac 
Howland (father of the late Isaac 
Howland, Jr). Soon after all the 
stores, warehouses, some barns and 
dwelling houses. together with every 
vessel they could get at were :YJ. 
flames. There were a large number cf 
vessels in the harbor at the time,-a 
large Englis~1 ship having been 
brought in a prize by the French a 
few days previous and then . lying at 
Rotch's ~barf as well as several others 
a short time before. Every vessel was 
burnt, exce_Pting those lying in the 
stream, which they could not get ~t. 
and a small craft somewhere up the 
river. The number of vessels destroy~.:! 
was 70. Among the dwelling houses 
burnt was -- Rotch's and Isaac 
Howland's~ Sr. 

A little before 9 o'clock or between 
8 and 9. and after some of the vess.:.ls 
which had been set on fire on the 
Be_df ord side and their cables and fast­
enings burnt off. had drifted down to­
wards the fort. the detachment which 
landed on the east side advanced upon 
the fort from the eastward. Two gui:s 
were then fired at the fleet, and after 
spiking the guns the garrison retreated 
to the north, leaving their colors flv­
ing. The British supposing the fort to 
be still garrisoned, opened a heavy 
fire upon it with their artillery, which 
soon ceased upon not being returned. 
The garrison were at this time ranged 
along a low wall a short distance to 
the north of the fort, waiting to dis­
cover the exact position of the army 
in order to :..nake i:heir retreat success­
fully. They were soon discovei:ed by 

(a) McPherson's Wharf was at Belleville. 
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the British who fired upon them and 
wounded a man by the name cf 
Robert Crossman. A ball · p8.SS€-d 
through one wrist and across the 
other. A hasty =etreat was then com­
menced and the enemy not knowing 
the exact position and strength of the 
Americans did not make a vigorous 
pursuit. The whole garrison with ";he 
exception of the wounded man 3nd 
two others, John Skiff and his father. 
who were taken p:isoners, succeedE-d 
in making their escaI)e to the woods 
at some little distance north of Fair­
have!l, where they lay through the 
night and until the British had passed 
them from the head. Before the fort 
was evacuated a train of powder was 
placed from the magazine to the plat­
form. The British upon entering after 
destroying the ramrods, sponges, et~-­
applied a' slow match to the magazine 
which communicating with the train 
left by the garrison, was blown up 
sooner than was intended, destroying 
one man at !}east. the fragments of 
whose gun, caD and accoutrements 
were afterwards discovered near by. 
After burning the barracks, guard 
house, etc.. the detachment moved 
north. destroying vessels, stores, et,; • 
and formed a junction with the 'ie­
tachment from the west side some­
where towards the head of Acushnet. 
after which they marched down to­
wards the fort. They were out all 
night. The next day they re-embarkE'd 
near the fort. The leading platoons ')f 
the detachment on the west side (.,,f 
the river fired UDOn three men, who 
were armed, near the house of Joseph 
Russell (father of Gilbert, Abraham 
and HumI)hry), two of whom were 
shot down. '.rhese men were Abraham 
Russell, about 40 years of age, ...... . 
Cook, a young man who lived wi.th 
him. and Diab Trafford, about 2 3 
years of age. The British advan\!ed 
rapidly upon them with charged 
bayonets. They begged for quarter 
which was refused. Russell was killed 
immediately, his head being entirely 
cut to pieces with cutlasses. Cook died 
about day-light, his bowels were 
ripped open. Trafford ( this is the 
uncle of Joseph Trafford, the conti­
nental), was shot through the leg and 
severely wounded in the- abdomen by 
bayonet thrusts he died the next day 
about 10 o'clock. after making some 
statements relative to their death. 
They were all carried in to Joseph­
Russell's house in the morning. 

Mr. Macomber says he·, saw these 
men lying where they were attacked 
the next morning before they were 
taken up. The sun was up and he 
was on his way home, the garrison 
forces having dispersed for a few 
days _until reinforcements should ar-

rive. These men were carried over to 
Dartmouth and buried on the farm of 
Jediah Shearman (whose wife was 
sister to the said Abraham Shearman) 
a few rods north of the house, where 
their graves may now be seen. The 
farm is now owned by Philip Gidly, 
who, purchased it of Samuel Barker. 
Trafford married Macomber's sister. 

The prisoners taken stated when 
they came back that the troops which 
landed on the east side were delayed 
some hours in consequence of th~jr 
light horse artillery becoming en­
tangled in a marsh which lay at the 
h~ad of the cove where they landed. 
This accounts for their delay in mak-
ing an attack uvon the fort. . 

On the night fono·wing the general 
attack a number of barges were dis­
covered coming up the river which 
were fired UDon and driven back bi' 
the f orcP. which by this time had as­
sembled at Fairhaven. a detachment 
having, I think. arrived from Row­
land's Ferry;, and a body of-- militia 
from Middleborough, making several 
hundred. It was supposed that their 
object was Dlunder and that the ex­
pedition was not ordered by any llf 
the general officers. 

William Bliss says he was serving 
at that time at the Ferry. Says troops 
were sent for, but they could not be 
spared and none went. Says he moved 
to New Bedford about 1800. 

Mr. Macomber further states that 
he returned to the fort in two or threa 
days, as did also the rest of the gar­
rison. that he entered the fort on the 
first of March for ten months and 
stayed until December, completing 
said term. 

Also, that Wm. Tallman's father 
was taken I>risoner and he thinks 
prisoners were taken at Acushnet 
village. 

Also. that the American prisoners 
on their return reported that the 
whole force of the British was about 
5,500. This, I presume, includes the 
number 1,ttached to the several ves­
sels. 

Also, thinks the detachment on he 
west side must have nearly reached 
the head of the river before the '!ort 
was evacuated. 

Also, that both detachments had 
artillery and he heard light horsemen, 
too. 

Also, says Obed Cushman was herP. 
with the militia next day, says he was 
in the sloop Providence a while, wno 
was all cut to Dieces during her last 
cruise. 

Mr. Macomber further says that 
Isaac Howland, Sr., stated his loss 
in shipping to be $6,000. 

He thinks the fallowing privateers 
were owned. fitted and sailed from 



here: SlooD Providence (-- Stod­
dard's father was in her) -- Fair­
field, --Revenue, --Hornet. Don't 
know how many were in 1>ort at the 
time. 

Mr. Macomber is very intelligent 
for a man of his age and has a good 
memory. The facts above stated sc 
far as they relate to himself, to what 
took place on the east side of thP. 
river during the night of the landing, 
what fell under his observations on 
the west side relating to the conflagra­
tion. and the death of the three men 
which he saw in the road where they 
fell the next morning. are personally 
known to him. and that the others 
were tola him on his return and at 
various times afterwards by those wno 
saw them her~ and by the prison"":"rs 
who returned from the British. 

He states that he cannot be mis­
taken as to a part of the troops land -
ing on the east side, that it looks as 
plain to him as if it was but yesterday 
and that the whole scene is constantlv 
on his mind and before him. · 

Statement or Perry Russell. 
Eldad Tupper and .Joseph Cas1le 

resided in Dartmouth. They were 
Tories and were driven out of town 
by the Akins. Capt. Elihu Akins, 
father of Jacob, Abraham, etc., was a 
strong Whig, in consequence of which 
they joined the British and piloted 
them into Padanaram. They---l>urnt: 
Capt. Elihu Akins's house and a new 
brig on the stocks. Inquire of Caleb 
Shearman. Don't know whether it was 
at the time Bedford was burnt or not. 
Perry Russell says he has seen Caleb 
who says they burnt Capt. .James 
Akins's and Capt. Elihu Akins's dwel­
ling houses and a new brig on thf' 
stocks the next morning after they 
l;>urnt Bedford. They went in with 
two row-gallies. 

Seth Tallman says he can remember 
when there were but five houses in the 
village .but can't tell which they are. 

Timothy Tallman. 
Says his father's name was Tim, 

that he was commissary, that on the 
day of the landing he was at Horse 
Neck and rode in !) miles in 45 min­
utes, just past the British at the co-ve. 
His family had got one load of goods 
back to farm-house, i:est were destr :>Y­
ed. His house stood where Barrows' 
store now is on corner Third an 1 
Union. He was afterward taken pri­
soner at farm-house, his knee buckles 
and shoe buckles were taken, his 
favorite horse taken, but afterward 

15 

restored as also his· liberty by the 
general of whom he sDoke welL 

Caleb Shearman, 8 O years old 
March 15, 1840. British fleet came up 
the bay Saturday afternoon. Sunday 
morning several barges came around 
to Padanaram and burnt Elihu Akins's 
house. the father of Abram. a two 
story house. standing where Akins's 
house now stands. Also James Akins's 
house. brother of Elihu and father 
of Justin Akins. set on fire, stood 
where John Rusaforth. Sr., stands. 
Set on fire the Meribah Akins house. 
called the Stone House. Reuben Smith 
lived there. and his wife (an Irish 
woman) put it out several times. Also 
burnt a brig on the stocks ready , ·~o 
launch, owned by Elihu Akins. 
Richard Shearman, reputed father of 
Nathaniel Sherman, and .Joseph Castl~ 
and Elded Tupper were Tories and 
went off with the British. The two first 
were Dilots. (b) 

Old Fort. or Russell's Garrison, up 
where Thacher's ship yard was 2-3 the 
way to head of river-fort opposite 
was on the Pardon Sanford lot. 

.John Hathau-ay, 85 in November, 
1839, lived in New Bedford since a 
boy. He was an apprentice to Thomas 
Hathaway, a boat builder who lived 
on the Nash farm. afterwards moveu 
down town and lived in James Davh' 
house whilst building the Gideon 

· Howland house. Made whale boats for. 
Joseph Rotch. I was whaling summer 
before th~ war and arrived home in 
sloop about 7 5 tons. the fall before 
the war was declared. Sloov Friend­
ship, Capt. William Claggon. Seth 
Russell. Danie! Smith. William Clag­
gon, Joseph Rotch, Joseph Russell" 
carried on whaling, brought blubber in 
in scuttled hogsheads, I enlisted in ~apt 
Thomas Kem1>ton's (afterwards -~ol­
onel) company volunt~ers and went to 
Boston in May, 177 5. Stayed there 8 
months. Then came home. join-art 
militia 3 months and served in Boston 
February, March and April, 1776, un­
der Cavt. Benjamin Dillingham of 
Acushnet. Went on board Privateer 
brig Rising Empire, 16 carriage guns 
(States vessel) built in Fairhaven. 
Was in her 4 months, she was in com­
mission but 2 months. She would n0t 
sail. Richard Welden, a Vineyard man, 
commanded her, took no prizes in her. 
In fall of 1776 enlisted on board of tht~ 
sloop Broom. Capt. Welden (the sam~ 
as above). Was out only 11 days and 
took 3 Drizes and brought them in 
here, one shio and two brigs, loaded 
with sugar, wine and mahogany, right 
from .Jamaica, think these vessels wer•~ 
all burnt. Took one brig three days out 
and the other two vessels five days 

(b) The Rushforth house is in Padanaram, next south of the southeast corner 
of Elm and Prospect streets. 



out. which was Sunday morning. no 
gun fired. Broom bad 6 0 men. '10 or 
80 tons. Afterwards the same fall, 
went on board s1001> Sally, 115 ton~. 
of 10 guns and 60 men. Francis 
Broom·, master of Connecticut, owned 
by Broom & Sears of Connecticut, 
sam.e as owned the Broom. Was on 
board the Sally from November. 1776, 
to February. 1777. cruising all the 
time: took two Drizes, one brig anti 
one schooner fisherman which was 
sent in somewhere to the east. had nr, 
engagement. During the cruise fell in 
with shiI> and convoy ( of 5 sails in 
sight) she was a shiI> and the 5 $8.ilS 
escaped. We fought her 1 * hours, 
had no one hurt. He hulled us. shor 
lodged in blankets in forecastle. We 
hauled off to stop leak and she ma,tle 
sail for her convoy. We afterwards 
went into Bay of Biscay and dogged a 
ship in riight and got close to 64 g11n 
ship, 2 decker. called None Su~h. 
We didn't think in the night she was 
a man-of-wa;J". We made her in the 
night. She fired upon us from sunris~ 
till 8 o'clock and when her shot nearly 
reached us we gave ourselves up. 
She carried us into Plymouth and I 
was a 1>risoner two years and thre~ 
months in mill prison at a place clos~ 
by Plymouth, was afterwards at Hov.·­
land's Ferry. 

DweWng Houses Barnt. 
Benjamin Taber. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 
Leonard Jarvis. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
J. !A>wden. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
J. Gerrish . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
W. Claggern . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
V. Childs. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . i 
Jos. Rotch . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
Jos. Rotch, Jr. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
Jos. Russell .•...................... 1 

10 
Shops, Ete. 

Isaac Rowland's 
Distil-house . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
Cooper's shop. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
Ware houses ...................... 3 

Jos. Russelrs 
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Barn ............................ 1 
Shop . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 

Church's s!lop (shoe). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
:r. R. s. 

Store . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
Ware house (old). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 
2 shops, small .•........... ·. . . . . . . 2 
Candlehouse . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
L Kempton ..•.................... 1 

15 
Rotch & Jarvis ..................... 15 

Shop . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
Warehouse . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 

Jos. Rotch 
Barn . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
Cbai-se house. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 

Rope Walk and 1 house 
A. Smith blacksmith shop. 
Benjamin Taber's shop. 
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Ships Burnt, Sept. 1778 by the British 
Troops. 

Ship Harriet. 
Ship Mellish (Continental). 
Ship Fanny French Prize. 
Ship Heron. 
Ship Leppard. 
Ship Spaniard. 
Ship Caesar. 
Barque Nanny. 
Snow, Simeon. 
Brig Sally (Continental). 
Brig Rosin. 
Brig Sally (Fish). 
Schooner Adventure. 
Schooner !A>yalty (Continental). 
Sloop Nelly. 
Sloop Fly (Fish). 
Sloop, Capt. Lawrence. 
Schooner Defiance. 
Schooner, ·capt. Jenney. 
Brig No Duty on Tea. 
Schooner Sally (Hornet's Prize). 
Sloop Bowers. 
Sloop Sally, 12 guns. 
Brig Ritchie. 
Brig Dove. 
Brig Holland. 
Sloop Joseph R. 
Sloop Roxiron. 
Sloop Pilot Fish. 
Brig Sally. 
Sloop Retaliation. 
Sloop J. Brow...i's. 
Schooner Eastward. 
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Old Buildings • 
tn New -Bedford 

Described by Henry Hov,land Crapo 

On the northwest corner of Union 
and Sixth streets was a house owned 
and occupied by caieb Greene, the 
most westerly one at the time, it being 
the present John Bailey house. Greene 
was an aDothecary and occupied one 
of the stores in the building which 
was burnt on the corner of Union and 
Water streets, near the present shop of 
E. Thornton, Jr. He was the son-in-law 
of JoseDh Russell. the first man in 
the Dlace. His family averaged 21 
persons. 

A house owned and occupied bv 
Humphrey Howland, situate next 
east of the last. and being the house 
now belonging to Wm. Howland, 2d., 
and his mother. He was the son of 
Isaac Howland. Sr.. and the brother 
of the late Isaac Howland, Jr. He was -
a merchant, tended store occasionally 
-worked in the candlewor~s som ~. 
etc. He was rich. - -

A brick house, owned and occupied 
by Isaac Howland. Sr., standing next 
east of the last and where Cheapside 
block now is. He was a merchant an.d 
had two sloops out whaling at thH 
commencement of the war. 

A house occupied by Richard Bent­
ley, a Scotchman, being the present 
Wm. Tobey house on the Northwest 
corner of Union and Purchase streets. 
He owned a little schooner and fol­
lowed coasting along shore in her. 

A house owned and occupied by 
Stephen Potter, the husband of Lydia 
Potter, now living on Kempton street, 
stood (a) next west of the last and 
directly opposite the Eagle Hotel. It 
was one story and very old at the tim~. 
This house was moved to Kempton 
street, No. 152, and called the Harper 
House. Potter was a journeyman 
blacksmith. 

A house built by Elihu Gifford, 
father of the present Abraham Gifford, 
standing west of the preceding. Eliha 
Gifford sold it. Don't know who lived 
in it-it is the Jeremiah Mayhew 
house, now standing (b). 

A house owned and occupied by 
Barney Russell, son of Joseph, stand­
ing on the north east corner of Union 

and Purchase. occupying the present 
site of the Dr. Reed house. This is 
the house now owned by Edward St~t­
son, on Purchase street, having been 
moved there. Barney Russell was a 
merchant. He had three or four slooJ;s 
w:ialing and several West India men. 

A house owned and occUI)ied bY 
J c•seph Rotch. and now occupied by 
Hannah Case ( c). 

It was the first house he built after 
coming from Nantucket. He was the 
grandfather of the present Wm. Rotch, 
Jr., and died in this house. Before 
moving here he examined the depth of 
water in the harbor. etc. He was a 
shoemaker by trade, but never car­
ried it on here. After the village was 
burnt he moved to Nantucket, but re­
turned a.gain at the close of the war. 

A house occupied by Avery Parker, 
as a public house, on the north ea.c:;t 
corner of Bethel and Union streets. 
being the same in which Snell's fruit 
shop now is. He was the grandfather 
of the present Elisha Parker, waa a 
house wright by trade and kept a 
public house in this building during 
the war. 

A two story store standing on the 
four corners where Allen Kelly now 
keeps. It was occupied as a variety 
store-groceries, dry goods, etc., and 
was owned by Seth Russell, senior. It 
was· the same building recently stand­
ing• on Whittemore lot, near his soap 
works, and now moved south. (The 
Russell store stood on the northwest 
corner of Water and Union streets.) 

A long store one and one-half 
stories high, fronting west and occu­
pied by Joseph Russell, son of Caleb, 
senior, who subsequently moved to 
Boston. He was the half brother · of 
Caleb, Jr. (Caleb Sr. was the father of 
the present Reuben.) The south part 
of this building was occupied by Jo­
seph Russell, as aforesaid, as a gro­
cery store including rum, etc. The 
north part by Caleb Greene as an 
apothecary shop. The part next south 
of the last -bY Charles Church, shoe­
maker. (This building stood on the 

(a) On the lot of Eddy building. 
(b) The east part 'of the Masonic building stands on this site. 
(c) Stood on the northwest corner of Union and Bethel streets. 
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northeast corner of Water and Union 
streets) and was burnt by the Brit­
ish. 

A gambrel roofed house, standing 
where the William Russell paint shop 
now stands on the northwest corner 
of Union and Orange streets, owned 
and occupied by Benjamin Taber, Sr., 
(the father of Benjamin Taber.. Jr. 
who removed from Acushnet to Illi­
nois.) Taber was a boat builder and 
pump and block maker, and his shop 
stood in the rear, or to the north of 
this house. The latter was burnt by 
the British (d). 

The present dwelling house on the 
southwest corner of Fifth and Union 
streets was built and occupied by 
John Wiliams, a saddle and harness 
maker. His shop was adjoining the 
house on the west. 

The house now occupied by Elisha 
W. Kempton, called the West house 
( e) was buil~ and occupied by Gamal­
iel Bryant, Sr., grandfather of the 
present Frederick. He was a house­
wright. He sold the house after­
wards to Captain Elisha West, who 
moved here from Holmes' Hole. 

A house, being a part of the pres­
ent Eagle Hotel, built by Elihu Gif­
ford, who occupied it at his 
time, but afterwards sold it to Isaac 
Howland, Jr. Gifford was a house 
carpenter by trade, but worked at 
anything. (Eagle Hotel was on south­
west corner of Union and Fourth 
streets.) -- _ 

The one-story house now standing 
on southeast corner of Union 
and Fourth streets, and east of the 
Eagle Hotel, owned and occupied by 
John Atkins, until his death. He was 
a coop€r by trade, but did not carry it 
on since I can remember; he fol­
lowed the seas. He was the son-in­
law of Caleb Russell, Senior, and the 
husband of Peace Akins, whom Gil­
bert attempted to carry from Joseph 
Russell's. etc. 

The house now standing on the 
southwes~ corner of Union and Third 
streets. the basement being now oc­
cupied by Noah Clark as a grocery 
was occupied and owned by Daniei 
Ricketson. father of the present Jo­
seph. He was a cooper by trade, and 
married the eldest daughter of Jo­
seph Russell. 
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A house on the southeast corner 
of Union and Third streets, where 
Barrows's store now stands owned 
and occupied by William Tallman 
father of the present William. H~ 
was a merchant tailor., and his shop 
was at the corner of Orange and 
Centre ::treets. He owned a 
farm up north, etc. This house 
is the west part of the pres­
ent Calvin B. Brooks house ( on south-

west corner of Walnut and Water 
streets. 

A long block of shops, one story 
high, opposite the :Mansion House. 
and extending eastward along the 
south side of Union street to First 
street. They were occupied as a bar­
ber's shop, tailor's shop, shoemaker's 
shop, etc. Th'e whole block was 
burnt by the British. 

The house on the- southwest cor­
ner of Union and South Water streets 
being the Martha· Hussey building' 
was owned and occupied by Elnathaii 
Samson. who was a blacksmith. His 
shop stood at the west of the house. 

A house (now occupied by Robert 
Taber as a tavern) standing on~ the 
southeast corner of Union and South 
Water streets, built, owned and oc­
cupied by Simeon Nash (father of the 
present Thomas and Simoen) who 
was a housewright. • 
·- A house on the edge of the bank 

standing about where Bates & Has~ 
kins paint shop is, owned and occu­
pied by William Myricks who died 
in it. He was a coope;. and the 
brother · of Benjamin,. who was 
drowned in getting up cannon oppo­
site Crow island. They have left no 
posterity. (It stood on the south side 
of Unio:c., about 50 feet west of 
Front. 
. A house on Third street (the Phil­
ips house, corner of Third and Mar­
ket square), one story high, built and 
occupied by Ishmael Tripp, a cooper, 
and the grandfather of the present 
Ishmael. It has recently been raised 
up two stories and repaired. 

A !louse in front of the present 
dw~lllng house of Willi.am Bliss on 
Third street,· standing wftnin the pres­
ent lines of Third street. This house 
~as owned by Joseph Rotch, and occu­
pied by Thomas Miles, who was a 
rope-~aker and worked r or said 

. Rotch. in his rope-walk. the west end 
of w11;1ch was near this house. ·Miles 
came from Boston. The house was 
burnt by the British (f). 

A house stan-ding on the site of th~ 
old market, owned and occupied by 
Joseph Austin, a hatter whose shop 
stood on First street, near Union. Thie; 
shop was subsequently bought by 
~illiam Biiss and formed a part of 
his present dwelling house. (g) 

The house was moved south to th~ 
John Coggeshall lot and is the sam-3 
that was recently occupied by Alfred 
Kendrick being No. 23 South Second 
street. (h) 

A house built and occupied by Silas 
Sweet, a blacksmith, being th~ 
"George Dunham house," and now oc: 
cupied by Geo. W. Sherman. Sw~et 
sold out and moved to the state of 
New York. {i) 

(d) Orange was the first name of Front street. 
( e) Next west of Ricketson's block. 
(f) William Bliss built the smaller house on the west side of Acushnet avenue, 

the third south of the corner of Russell street. 
(g) The old market was the central police station of 1908. 
(h) Northwest corner of Second and School. 
(i) Northwest corner Spring and South Second streets. 
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A house built and occupied by 
James Davis until his death. He was 
a tanner and currier. This house sto.--,tl 
on the east side of South Second str~et, 
opposite the Market-had a gambrel 
roof and is now owned by Bethuel 
Penniman. (j) 

A handsome two story house, built, 
owned and occupied by Wm. Claggon, 
master mariner, standing on the w-est 
side of Water street. and a little north 
of the Cory tavern. This house was 
burnt by the British, and stood at the 
head of Commercial street, next north 
of the brick house. 

A house standing obliquely with 
Water street, on the west side thereof, 
at the head of Commercial street ~nd 
partly upon the present site of the 
Cory tavern and partly upon that ::>f 
the Hill house, two story in front s.t.nd 
one in rear. This house was built and 
occupied by John Louden, formerly ()f 
Pembroke. He was a ship-carpenter, 
and carried on ship building here. His 
ship yard was on the east side of 
Water street, northeast from (now) 
Cole's stable and tavern and between 
Water street and the present Comm~r­
cial and Steam Boat wharves. Loude"'l 
kept a public house here at the time. 
This house was burnt by the British..· 
Louden moved back to Pembroke soon 
after the war. 

A house built and occupied by 
David Shepherd, a cooper, standil'.lg 
on South Water street. at the north­
west corner of School street3-. n,.>w 
standing and known by the name of 
the "Shepher,:1 House." He carried on 
more business ( coopering) than any 
other person here. 

The present Gideon Howland Hou:=;~, 
three stories high, standing on the hHl. 
southwest corner of South Water and 
School streets. This house was tlC­
cupied by Thomas Hathaway, who 
built it. He was a boat builder suhsr.,­
quently to the landing of the British 
moved up to th_e house, now called the 
"Nash Home." Immeditely after the 
landing of the British it was let by 
Mr. Hathaway to one Job Anthony for 
a rendezvous. The officers of the slo1 ,p 
Providence and other armed ves~els, 
quartered in a part of this house wllcn 
in port. (k) 

The house built and occupied by 
John Howland, the father of the late 
Resolved Howland, by his first wif~. 
the daughter c,f David Smith, of Dart­
mouth, and of John and James How­
land by his second wife, the daughte:-­
of David Shepherd. He was both a 
merchant and mariner. This is the 
house now occupied by Reliance How­
land, No. 45 South Water street (and 
stood on the west side of Water, next 
south of the corner of School). 

The Fitch House. so called, now 
standing at the south west corner of 
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Water and Walnut streets. This house 
was built by J ose:oh Rotch for Griffin 
Barney, senior, who occupied it at the 
time the British troo:os landed, etc. 
Griffin Barney, Jr., (the late Griffin 
Barney) was not married at the time 
and lived here with hi:! father. The 
elder Griffin was boss of the rope 
walks owned by Joseph Rotch (being 
the only ones then in the place) which 
were burned and carried on business 
in the same. 

The brick house. now standing on 
South Water street, between Walnut 
and Madison streets. This house was 
built and occupied by Charles Hud­
son, (a) a mason who moved after­
wards to New:oort, R. I. He built, the 
house himself. · 

The James Allen house ( d), so called, 
standing next south of the last. Don't 
know who built this house (aa)-it is 
v~ry old. It was occupied by Wally 
Adams. the father of the present 
Thomas. Adams did not own it­
he occu1>ied it as a boarding house-­
don't know his occupation. 

The "Wm. Ru.c;sell house," near the 
foot of School street. built by William 
Russell, Sr .• who always lived in it. 
He was a coo::t>er and carried on the 
business a while. 

A house built and occupied by John 
Gerrish, as a public house, standing 
where Cole's tavern now stands. This 
was burnt by the British. After the 
war Gerrish built the vresent hou8e 
on the same cellar. He was a pump 
and block maker (b). 

A small gambrel roofed house, built 
and occupied by John Chaffy, standing 
on the lot next north of the John 
Howland house. and on the lot after.:. 
wards owned by Alex. Howard. Chaffy 
was a refiner of oil in the candleworks 
and the first man here at that busi­
ness. He stole the art from an English­
man. He worked in the candle-house 
belonging to Joseph Russell, on Centre 
street :whilst ·he was in company with 
Isaac Howland. This was all the 
candle-house at the time. A short 
time before the British burnt Russell 
& Howland had some difficulty and 
dissolved, Russell occupying the old 
works on Centre street and Howland 
building, etc. After the fire . Chaffy 
was a constable. ( c) 

A long building, 1 ½ stories high, 
standing on the site of the present 
yellow store, Commercial wharf. The 
west end of this was occupied as a 
distillery (to make N. E. rum of 
molasses, etc.) by Isaac Howland, Sr. 
The east end was occupied by Howland 
as a candleworks. This building was 
erected by Isaac Howland after ,the 
dissolution of copartnership between 
him and Joseph Russell and was the 
second candlehouse in town, etc. This 

(j) Next south of southeast corner of Union and Second streets. 
(k) The Howland house was build about 1795 after Thomas Hathaway had 

sold the house that he had erected. 
(a) Edward Hudson. 
(aa) Moses Grinnell, 1778. 
('b) This house stood on east side of Water street at the foot of Spring. 
(c) This ·house stood on the northeast corner of South Water and Commercial 

streets. 
(d) James Allen was a tailor. 
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building was burnt by the British to­
gether with a large quantity of N. E. 
rum. Russell being a Quaker was op­
posed to distilleries. (d) 

The house next north of Hannah 
Case's and :aow occupied by Walter 
Chapman built and occupied 'oy 
Charles Church. who was drowned 
near Crow Island. say 30 years of 
age. He was a shoemaker. ( e) 

The house next north of the last 
and now occuvied by the Rev. Mr. 
Mudge. It was built and occupied by 
Col. Edward Pove, the collector who 
subsequently sold it to William Hay~ 
den. 

A small gambrel roofed house stand­
ing upon the present site of the Bethel. 
It was built by Tim. Ingraham ( grand 
father of the 1>resent Robert), who 
commanded the fort. His son, Timothy, 
the father of Robert, was a barber and 
his shov was in the lohg string of 
buildings or stores, on the south side 
of Union street. between Second and 
First streets. This house was subse­
quently pulled down. 
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among the buildings on Union street. 
It was subsequently pulled down. 

A house next north of the last oc­
cupying the site of the northerly part 
of the said William H. Allen brick 
block. It was· built by Abraham Smith, 
who owned and occupied it. He was a 
blacksmith and his shoD was on the 
north side of Centre street, a few rods 
east of Water street. He was the son 
of .Jonathan Smith, living at the 
"north end" at this time. 

A one story, gambrel roofed house 
standing at the north end of the pres~ 
ent Commercial bank---on the hill. It 
was bu!lt, owned and occupied by 
.Joseph Rotch. who came from the 
Vineyard. He was a master manner 
and was called "Capt. Joseph Rotcq!' 
Burnt by British. 

A large house 2 ½ or 3 stories high 
standing on the same cellar as th~ 
house recently occupied and now 
owned by William Rotch. .Jr. It was 
built ana owned by .Joseph Rotch, the 
first settler. He lived in it after he 
left his old home, where Harriet Cas~ 
now lives ,as already stated· but at 
the_ time of 'tb:e British landing, he 
resided, Mr. Gilbert thinks, at Nan­
tucket. The house at this time was oc­
cupied by .Joseph Austin a hatter 
~ho carried on the hatting busine~ 
1n a shop on Union street, which now 
forms a part of William Bliss' house 

. on Third street. (g) ' 

The house where Prescott's office 
nc.w is-North Water street-was 
built by Seth Russell, Sr., and was oc­
cupied by widow Doubleday, as al­
ready stated. Mr. Russell lived in this 
house before the war. Upon the com­
mencement of the war, he moved up 
to his farm. now owned by Timothy 
G. Coffin. This house was set on. fire 
three different times by the British 
sodiers, which was as often extin­
guished. in their presence liy·~ the 
heroic Mrs. D. UDon being asked by 
them if she were not afraid thus to 
oppose them, she fearlessly replied 
that she "never saw a man she was 
afraid of.:' This boldness so pleased the 
soldiers that they desisted from any 
further attemDt to fire the house, 
which was accordingly saved, together 
with a large amount of goods then 
stored in the cellar-liquors. (f) 

A house standing next north of 
the last and seoarate from it bv an 
alley. This house was one story~ and 
very old at the time. Don't know who 
built it. It was occuoied during the 
war by .John Shearman. father of the 
present Thurston Shearman. It was a 
long house with the end to the street 
and its front to the a.f oresaid alley or 
court. .John Shearin.an was a black­
smith. The house was called "the old 
Seth Russell house." 

A house standing on North Water 
street. on the north side of the lot 
occupied by the late Samuel Rodman 
and near the edge of the bank betwee~ 
this lot and the present Benj. Rodman 
Jot. It was built by .James Smith who 
occupied it-and - was pulled 'dow.n 
some 20 years since. Mr. Smith was 
a cooper and "carried on the busi­
ness." Some say this is the "oldest 
house, etc." but Gilbert says the 
Loudon house is the oldest . .James B. 
C?ngdon says this house was built by 

· his grand-father, Benj. Taber, etc. (h) 

A house next north of the last 
standing where the south part of the 
William H. Allen brick block now 
stands. It was built by Daniel Smith, 
who owned and occupied it. He was a 
tailor and had a small shop on the 
north side of "Main street" near 
where Nathl. Roger's barber's shop 
now is. This shop was not noted 

A large, woolen, one story building 
standing partly where Mark B. Pal­
mer's shop now is, and thence extend­
ing easterly to the "Horton Bake 
House.u This was · built by Joseph 
Russell and occupied as a candle­
house by him and Isaac Howland who . , 
were 1n com.Dany during the com-
mencement of the war. But having 
some little difficulty they dissolved 
upon which Isaac built the · other' 
which he had occupied as a distillery 
and candleworks. but a short tin1e 
when it was burnt by the British as 
before stated. This was the first candle 
works in town, and was occupied by 
.Jos. Russell after the dissolution of 
copartnership. (i) 

A cooper's shop stood at the south­
east corner of the last and belonged 
to .Joseph Russell. 

(d) The stone block on north side of Commercial street is on the above site 
( e) The qase house stood on the northwest corner of Union and Bethel · 
(f) At this date Judge Prescott's office was on the west side of North water 

street next to the corner of Union. 
(g) The Rot~h house stood on the southwest corner of Water and William 
... str~ets. It is now the· Mariners' Home on Bethel street, presented to the Port 

Soc1EtY by_ Mrs . .Tames Arnold, daughter of William Rotch Jr. in 1851 and 
moved to its present location. • ' • 

(h) The Rodman house stood on the northwest corner of Water and William 
streets. 

(i) It was located on the south side of Centre street half way between Water 
and Front. 
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A boat builder's shop, standing upon 
the !>resent site of the store now oc­
cupied by Daniel Perry, extending 
from the house on the corner north­
erly to where J oseI>h Ta.hers shop 
now stands. It was a long building set 
in the bank two stories in front and 
one in rear. The first story was oc­
cupied as a pump and block maker's 
shop, and the second story as a boat­
builder's shop, which was long en­
ough to set up three boats in a string. 
The whole was carried on by Benj. 
Taber, Sr., who lived in the house ad­
joining on the corner where· the paint 
shop now stands. It was located on 
the west side of Front next north of 
the corner of Union. (j) 

A two story wooden store, standing 
on the !>resent corner of Orange and 
Centre streets, and where the William 
Tallman brick store now is. It was 
built by William Tallman, Sr., and 
occupied by him as a grocery store in 
the first story, and as a merchant 
tailor's store in the second story. 

A store standing east of the last 
and where Orange street now runs, 
built and occupied by .Joseph Russell. 
The front was two stories and the rear 
one. It stood into the bank of rock. 
The first story was occupied as a 
grocery and the second as a dry-goods 
store, and the whole was carried on 
by his son, Gilbert. This was burnt­
goods principally saved. Some powder 
having been left it blew up with a 
great report. No one hurt. __ 

The "Try \Yorks," a building one 
story high-a sort of shed, etc., stood 
in front of the .Joseph Russell house 
and nearly at the intersection of the 
present Orange and Centre streets, 
leaving a pas-way between it and the 
last. This belonged to .Joseph Rus­
sell and was used for trying out blub­
ber, which was "brought in", in skut­
tled hogsheads. in small vessels. Rus­
sell was the only person who carried 
on the whaling business before the 
war. 

Think Russell had no vessel south 
of the Guif Stream before the war. 
Try works burnt by British. 

The Joseph Rotch store stood some­
where, Mr. Gilbert thinks, near the 
east end of the present Andrew Robe­
son's candle works-but he cannot 
say exactly whe~e. Joseph Rotch 
owned several vessels. Store burnt by 
the British. (a) 

The present Silas Kempton house, 
at southwest corner of North Second 
and Elm streets. It then stood in the 
pasture, or meadow. It was built and 
occupied by his father, Manassah 
I{empton, who was a shipwright. 

A house standing o.a the present 
High street, and a little to the west 
of the late Benjamin Kempton house 
at the corner of' High and North Sec-
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ond street. This was an old one-story 
house and was built by Benj. Kemp­
ton, senior, father of the late Ben­
jamin Kempton. He was a caulker. 
This was one of the Asa Smith build­
ings of Ark memory-that is1 it was 
moved east of William Ellis's house 
and burnt with the Ark. The Ark 
was the merchant brig, Indian Chief. 

House owned, occupied and built 
by Benjamin Butler, standing on the 
east side of Clarks Neck. Only house 
on the Point. Same- house which Ju­
dah Butler now lives in, and Benjamin 
was the father of Judah and he was 
a cooper. (b) 

A house standing at the present foot 
of Mill street on Ray street. east side, 
two-story house. Built by George­
East, who occupied it at that time 
and until his death. He was a ma­
son and came from Rhode Island. (c) 

House standing where Third street 
now runs, immediately in front of 
the house where William Bliss now 
lives. (d) 

It was two stories and stood near 
the rope walk which occupied what is 
now Morgans Lane. The house in 
which Mr. Bliss now lives, or a part 
of it, was a hatter's shop and stood 
near the "four corners." This was 
first moved on the cellar of the above 
house, but subsequently, on the lay­
ing out of Third street, moved back 
to its present site. In this shop John 
Coggeshall. Caleb Congdon and Cor­
nelius Grinnell learned the hg,tters 
trade. The shingles on the north end 
of this house were put on before the 
Revolution. 

The , long one-story house built, 
owned and occupied until he died, by 
Jonathan Smith, stood next south of 
the present (e) Amos Simmons store 
on North Second street. He was the 
grandfather of Asa Smith. He was a 
blacksmith and his shop stood south 
of his house and where. Jacob Par­
ker now lives. This house was moved 
up to Nigger Town and is now cut 
in two and makes the two William 
Reed's houses west of Dudleys. (f) . 

The two-story house corner of 
North Second and North street, now 
occupied by Amos Simmons. This 
was built, owned and occupied by 
Jonathan Russell, a cooper. who car­
ried on cooping in the cellar. He was 
the brother of old William Russell. 
They came from Nantucket. . (House 
now standing on northeast corner.) 

A one-story house built by George 
Glaggon, a shipwright, standing right 
east of the last house, fronting to the 
west. It is a part of the present house 
now standing there (the southwest 
part), now belonging to Andrew Robe­
son. This gentleman was a colonel 
in the Revolutionary Continental army. 
After the war he was employed as 

(j) Front street was originally named Orange. .Joseph Taber's shop is the 
stone building on the west side of :F'ront street at the corner of Rose alley. 

(a) The Robeson candle works was the stone building on east side of Water 
street corner of Rodman street. 

(b) Standing on the south side of Butler street now East French avenue. 
(c) Ray street is now Acushnet avenue. 
(d) The third house on the west side of Acushnet avenue south of Russell street. 
(e) This stood near North street. 
(f) This was Chepachet. 
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head boss of the yard to build the 
frigate Constitution and for that pur­
pose moved his whole family to Bos­
ton. He subsequently moved back 
again and after moved to Rehoboth. 
Peter Lewis's wife of this town was 
his daughter. Building the Constitu­
tion spoilt him. 

A house now belonging to and occu­
pied by Susan Maxfield, standing on 
the northwest corner of North Second 
and North streets. It was built by 
Patrick Maxfield, the son of Timothy 
Maxfield, Sr., who lived in Dart­
mouth. Patrick was a master mariner 
and uncle of the present Humphrey 
Maxfield. He has no posterity. 

A house on southwest corner of 
North Second and Maxfield streets, the 
present Humphrey Maxfield house. It 
was built by Zadoc Maxfield, who 
owned and occupied it. He was a 
cooper and worked in under part of 
it, where his son did. Humphrey was 
his youngest son. 

A one-story house on southwest cor­
ner of Ray and North streets, now 
owned and occupied by James Bates. 
This was built, owned and occupied 
by Jabez Hammond, Sr. He was a 
cooper and worked in cellar ·or base­
ment part of it. He was father to 
John Gilbert's wife and came from 
Mattapoisett. Old John Chace's wife 
was this man's sister, making John 
Gilbert's wife own cousin to my grand­
mother. 

A one-story house on the west side 
of Ray street, now standing ancl'· oc­
cupied by Asa Dillingham, ( on the 
northwest corner of Ray and Max­
field.) Don't know who built it. 
James Chandler owned and occupied 
it. lie was an Englishman. He was 
the grandfather of Thomas R. Chand­
ler, who lived with William Rotch. He 
was a shoemaker and worked in base­
ment. He was a soldier during the 
war. 

A small house now standing on Ray 
street and next north of the last. It 
was built. owned and occupied by 
Thomas West~ a very old man at the 
time and did not work. Think he was 
the grandfather of John P. West. 

A small one-story house standing 
west of the last (being the house on 
Purchase street below the bank). It 
was built by Simeon Price, Sr., father 
of the present Simeon. He lived in 
it and owned it. He was a cooper, I 
think. (1) 

A two-story house in front and 
one-story in rear, on southeast cor­
ner County and Cove streets, front­
ing south and standing on the same 
cellar as the present Cove House. Was 
built by Benjamin Allen, grandfather 
of the present Humphrey Allen. He 
was a farmer. This house was af­
terwards pulled down. 

The present Timothy Akin's house. 
This was built, owned and occupied by 
Caleb Russell, Jr., the father of Reu­
ben. He was a cooper, but followed 
farming during the war. (It stood 
on northwest corner County and 
Rockland streets.) 

The house west of the Seth Rus­
sell new house and now occupied by 
Ichabod Coggeshall, was built, occu­
pied and owned by old Caleb Russell. 
He was a farmer. (It was on the 
northwest corner County and Wash­
ington streets.) 

A house on the corner of County and 
Allen, the present Ezekiel Tripp house. 
This was built, owned and occupied by 
.James Allen, a farmer called "Lazy 
Jim," father of Abram and John. (It 
was opposite the Methodist church.) 

A small shop standing on the cor­
ner of South Second and Union streets. 
where William Tallman's house now 
is. It was a dry goods store and oc­
cupied by them. Gilbert thinks it not 
here till after the fire. This shop for­
merly stood at the Tallman farm, was 
moved down here and afterwards 
moved back to the farm, and thence 
moved to east side Ray street, where 
the d:,e establishment now is, and 
was then torn down and burnt up. 

A house standing on west side 
County· street and near the present 
residence of Joseph Grinnell. It was 
two stories and was built and owned 
by Jonathan Smith, who lived on 
North Second street, as above stated. 
Don't know who lived in it. (g) 

An old house standing near where 
William R. Rotch's house now is, two 
stories in front and one in rear, front­
ing south. John Akins occupied it. 
He was a cooper, but followed the 
seas,-master. The house belonged to 
Joseph Russell and was built by his 
father, whose name I think was Jo­
seph and who was not living during 
the war. This was his homestead, 
one of the very oldest houses here. 
(h) 

The house of Joseph Russell stood 
southeast of Charles W. Morgan's on 
the corner of County and Morgan 
streets, and is now owned by William 
Read, who moved it, as before stated. 
It was built by Colonel Samuel Wil­
lis. a colonel in the French war, who 
was the father of Ebenezer~ who lived 
by John A. Parker's present house. 
The son Ebenezer was a major in the 
militia in the first of the · war. He 
was uncle to Pamelia Willis, now 
living, who was the daughter of Ji­
reh Willis. 

The Russell house was the head­
quarters of all gentlemen and troops 
during the war. There was no other 
suitable house for gentlemen to put 
up at. There were in the place three 
taverns, but they were rough places. 

(1) Demolished this winter, stood on site of new rink. 
(g) This was at the head of Russell street. 
(h) This stood on west side of County street at head of Walnut street. 
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THE BEN.JAMIN BLTTLER HOUSE. 

(See Page 25.) 



A ·house near Kempton's corner, on 
west side County street, now occu­
pied by Sylvia Hill_ sister of Obed 
Kempton and married Captain Ben­
jamin Hill, Sr. This house was built, 
occupied and owned by Eph .. Kemp­
ton, father of said Sylvia, who died in 
it. He was a shipwright and a caulk­
er. The house was two stories in 
front and one in the rear, (and stood 
on northwest corner Kempton street). 

A house standing on the west side 
of County street and a little north of 
the David Kempton house, at the 
head of North street, two stories in 
front and one in rear. Eph. Kemp­
ton, 2nd, owned in and lived in it. 
He was a farmer. Don't know the 
connection between him and Eph. 
Kempton, Sr. He was the father of 
the present Eph. Kempton. 

A house standing on Walden street, 
two stories in the front, west side 
stuccoed (think John Burgess lives in 
it). It was built oy Colonel Thomas 
Kempton, in the Revolutionary army. 
He occupied it till his death. He 
served through the . war. He was 
brother to Eph. Kempton, 2nd. 

An old house standing a little west 
of where John Avery Parker's house 
now stands, large two-story house. It 
was built by Ebenezer Willis., Sr., the 
colonel in the French war, and his son 
Ebenezer occupied it,. and kept a pub­
lic house in it. Probate courts were 
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(i) Next south of St. Lawrence church. 

held in it. It was burnt during the 
war, but not by the English. It took 
fire from an old woman's pipe, a coal 
falling into some flax. A house was 
afterwards built by Ebenezer, Jr., on 
the same spot, which was recently 
moved onto Purchase street. Eben­
ezer, Sr. and Jr., were both farmers. 
Ebenezer, Jr .• was a major in the mi­
litia in the first part of the war. 
Think this was the only fire before 
Abram Russell's. 

(Note: There is an error in this 
account. The first house was built 
by Colonel Samuel Willis., who died 
in 176 5 and left the north third part 
of his farm between Franklin , and 
Linden streets to his son Jireh, as 
suggested in the next paragraph, and 
the remainder to his son, Major Eben­
ezer Willis. Neither had any sons.) 

A house standing at the crotch of 
the County road and Perry's Neck 
road and north of Robeson's new 
house, called the old Willis house. It 
was occupied by Jireh Willis, a law­
yer, and I think the only lawyer in 
the place. It was entailed, etc., said 
Jireh owning a life estate. Think it 
was built by his father, Ebenezer Wil­
lis, Sr. (j) 

The Benjamin Rodman· farm house 
on Purchase street, built, owned and 
occupied by Samuel West, father of 
Stephen West, the pound-keeper. He 
was a farmer. . (k) · 

(j) His father was Samuel and the house was on the northwest corner of 
County and Robeson street. Robeson's house was the stone dwelling owned 
later by Dr. H. M. Dexter. . 

(k) It stood near the southwest corner of Purchase and Weld streets. 





'' I wish no other-but such an honest chronicler.'' 

SHAKSPERE. 






